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The Old Rock School, converted into a private residence in 1882, has been restored 
to a close approximation of its original state. Built in 1853, it is a two-story 
rectangular school building of coursed limestone rubble, with a gable roof and 
central chimney. Quoins and lintels are massive blocks of dressed limestone. 
Fenestration is six-over-six double-hung sash, with 4" by 6" white oak lintels on 
the interior. Originally the west facade had no doors or windows; this acted as a 
barrier against the wind. An exterior stairway on the north wall led to the upper 
floor. This entranceway now functions as a window. Except for removal of 
chimneys constructed in the east and west walls, and the addition of a door in the 
west facade (c. 1890), the building's exterior looks much as it did in the 1850's.

The main facade, which faces north, is three bays wide on the second story, with 
a door and two bays on the entrance level. The south facade has the same composition 
as the north. The east facade has two symmetrically-spaced bays on each floor. 
The west facade has only a central door at ground level. The gable ends face 
east and west.

Extensive restoration work has returned the Old Rock School's interior to a two-room 
plan. The building's use as a single family dwelling in the 1890's, and later as 
a multiple unit residence in the 1950's, altered its stark and simple beauty. The 
interior measures 22' by 36' with one room per floor. The walls have been stripped 
of paneling and plaster, exposing the limestone masonry. A false floor and layers 
of linoleum were shed to reveal the school's original pine flooring on the entrance 
level. The first floor has an 11'6" ceiling with exposed hand-hewn beams which span 
the width of the building. The center section of the upper floor, badly sagging, 
was removed and is now skirted by a 32" high railing. The ceiling of the second 
floor was removed to expose the roof beams, secured with wooden pegs.

Building materials used in the restoration process (still continuing in 1978) 
were recycled from portions of the schoolhouse. New doors located on the north, 
south, and west walls were made by hand. A new roof covered with 3/4"-thick 
hand-split red cedar shakes now crowns the Old Rock School

The natural limestone exterior (covered with a green cement bonding paint that 
was carefully peeled off) once again exhibits the schoolhouse's original appearance. 
The Iowa County Historical Society plans to furnish a portion of the first floor 
with late-nineteenth-century school furniture.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Old Rock School's limestone masonry construction represents the craftsmanship of 
public buildings built in Dodgeville during the nineteenth century. The Old Rock 
School is the only schoolhouse to remain of the pair constructed in 1853. The 
school is significant as a fine example of Cornish masonry work and as the one 
remaining original schoolhouse built in Dodgeville.

Architecture

The Old Rock School is significant as an example of nineteenth-century Cornish 
masonry work indigenous to the Dodgeville area. The builder, Thomas Carkeek, an 
immigrant from Cornwall, participated in the construction of "nearly every other 
considerable building" in the region including the Iowa County Courthouse and jail. 
The schoolhouse's restoration, sensitively handled, makes it a fine example of one 
of Dodgeville's limestone masonry public buildings built in the 1850 f s.

Education

The school's status as the only remaining permanent schoolhouse of the two build in 
1853 makes it significant to the educational history of the Dodgeville area. Dodge­ 
ville was the metropolis of the lead mining region in southern Wisconsin during the 
late 1820's. The height of the mining era in the 1840 f s was marked by the steady 
influx of Cornish and Welsh immigrants and the establishment of a local government 
for the thriving community. Various "schoolrooms" were rented in private residences 
and later in the town hall. In 1849, the town elected the first school superindendent 
and organized a school district. Dodgeville's renewed prosperity and increased 
school enrollment signaled a need for construction of more adequate facilities. 
In 1853, after the community was divided into two separate school districts, the 
first permanent schoolhouses were erected. The Old Rock School and the Grove School 
(a frame schoolhouse demolished in 1882) existed independently, serving a total of 
226 children of school age.

Through the middle of the nineteenth century, Dodgeville f s economic base experienced 
a transition from mining to agriculture as richer accessible ore was exhausted and 
the price of lead became unstable. The concomitant growth of the village brought 
about the addition of a high school department to the school system. In 1864, 
through an action by the Town Board, the two school districts were united. The Rock 
and Grove schools housed the primary and intermediate levels and space for a high 
school was rented in the town hall. In less than 20 years, enrollments doubled and
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further school expansion became imminent. The Old Rock School, in use until the 
winter of 1881-82, was sold at public auction to defray costs of construction for 
the new facility.

After the sale in 1882, the Old Rock School functioned as a private residence 
for 88 years. In 1970, its present owners began the laborious task of restoring 
the school. The layer of exterior paint and the interior alterations had disguised 
the schoolhouse. As the cement bonding paint was peeled off and the limestone 
masonry became visible, local residents regained an awareness of the village's 
original rock school. The interest generated by the school's restoration was 
exemplified by the Iowa County Historical Society's decision to rent the building. 
Although the Old Rock School ceased to perform any educational function after 1882, 
it will once again serve as an educational resource not only for Dodgeville but 
for the entire county.

1. History of Iowa County, Chicago, Western Historical Company, 1881. p. 884.

2. "History of the Dodgeville School," John Quincy Emery Papers, 1898. p. 2.
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